RECEIVED

AUG 5 2016

Washington State
Supreme Court

No. 93120-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CARLOS BENITEZ, JR.,
Petitioner,

v.

SKAGIT COUNTY,
Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

The Honorable Charles R. Snyder, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Carlos Benitez, Jr. #715131
Petitioner

AIRWAY HEIGHTS CORRECTIONS CENTER
P.O. Box 2049 L-B-19-L
Airway Heights, WA 99001

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Petitioner, Carlos Benitez, Jr. (Benitez), asks this Court to accept review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division One, in Carlos Benitez, Jr. v. Skagit County, No. 73626-4-I.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

By unpublished opinion dated April 18, 2016, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Whatcom Superior Court's decision that Benitez was not entitled to penalties because he failed to demonstrate an issue of fact as to whether Skagit County (County) acted in bad faith in denying Benitez's public records request. A copy of the Court of Appeals opinion is in the Appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where the County relied on exemptions that it knew did not exempt from production the records Benitez requested, did the County act in bad faith in denying Benitez's public records request?

2. Where the Public Records Act unequivocally commands an agency to respond promptly to a public records request, and the County ignored this command, did the County act in bad faith in failing to promptly respond to Benitez's public records request?

3. Where genuine issues of material fact precluded summary judgment, did the trial court err in granting summary judgment and dismissal in favor of the County?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In March, 2011, Benitez's former trial counsel filed a postconviction motion, pursuant to CrR 4.7(h)(3), seeking an order allowing release of the discovery materials in Benitez's case to him. CrR 4.7 allows defense counsel to release a discovery file to a client "after making appropriate redactions which are approved by the prosecuting attorney or order of the court." CrR 4.7(h)(3). The State opposed the motion, citing safety concerns for undercover officers associated with Benitez's case. The State further argued that the requested documents would reveal strategies used in undercover and multiagency operations, and that Benitez had the ability to disseminate the materials both within and outside the prison. Although the State did not provide any evidence that Benitez had threatened or harassed any officers, the State maintained that redaction would not eliminate its concerns for the safety of the undercover officers. the State requested a protective order to prevent Benitez from obtaining the discovery in his case.

In May, 2011, the superior court denied defense counsel's motion for release of the discovery to Benitez. In its order, although there was no evidence that Benitez belonged to

any gang, the court noted that Benitez belonged to a gang engaged in a "sophisticated, ongoing drug and illegal weapons operation," and had connections outside of prison. The court concluded that releasing the records would reveal undercover strategies and would "disadvantage undercover officers, investigations, and the agencies involved." The court emphasized that "the most important concern ... is for community and law enforcement safety and that the release of the discovery materials would pose a significant threat to the safety of [both]."

On June 17, 2012, Benitez submitted a Public Records Act (PRA) request to the Skagit County Interlocal Drug Enforcement Unit (SCIDEU) for records pertaining to SCIDEU case No. 09-TF048. In this Request, Benitez requested:

1. Any and all application(s) requesting search and seizure, and the warrant(s) associated with the request(s);
2. Any and all application(s) and/or authorization(s) to intercept and/or record Private Conversation(s) or Communication(s);
3. Any transcript of any recorded Private conversation and/or Communication(s).

On June 27, 2012, Detective L. Craig of the SCIDEU responded to Benitez's records request, stating: "Additional time is needed to respond to your request. We currently anticipate being able to respond to your request on or around July 24, 2012." Detective Craig did not explain why additional time to respond was needed.

On July 24, 2012, Tom Molitor of the SCIDEU responded to Benitez's records request, informing Benitez that additional time was needed to respond to his request and that they anticipated "being able to respond by August 3, 2012." Molitor did not explain why additional time to respond was needed.

On August 6, 2012, Molitor notified Benitez that the first installment of records was prepared and would be provided upon receipt of Benitez's payment for copying costs. The second installment would be ready on or about September 10, 2012. Molitor also notified Benitez that they "have not been able to locate any transcripts of any recorded private conversation and/or communications as requested in item number 3 of [Benitez's] request."

On August 21, 2012, Molitor provided Benitez with 28 pages of documents. With the exception of two documents pertaining to the search warrant in SCIDEU case No. 09-TF048, the remaining documents pertained to Burlington Police Department case No. 09-B08177. The documents consisted of two blank pages and repetitious copies of a search warrant and affidavit relating to the Burlington case. Benitez had not requested any records pertaining to that case.

On August 21, 2012, Benitez informed Molitor by letter that the records Molitor sent him were nonresponsive to his request. Benitez's letter included an itemized list of the

records he received, clarified his request, informed Molitor that he had previously examined a transcript of the recorded conversation intercepted on September 17, 2009, and again requested that Molitor produce the records he requested.

On August 28, Molitor responded by letter, stating that "additional time is needed to respond to your letter dated August 21, 2012. We currently anticipate being able to respond by September 28, 2012." Again Molitor did not explain why he needed additional time to respond.

On October 5, Molitor again informed Benitez that he needed additional time to respond. Molitor anticipated a response by October 22, but again did not explain why he needed additional time to respond.

On October 8, Benitez sent Molitor a letter inquiring why Molitor had not met his estimated response date. Benitez stated that Molitor had made numerous additional time needed to respond estimates, yet Molitor had not provided the records Benitez requested; that he had provided more than a reasonable amount of time for Molitor to produce the records; that any further additional time estimates of time to respond would be interpreted as a denial of the records; and that Benitez would be filing a complaint for violations of the PRA if the records were not provided to him within 10 days.

On October 25, the prosecutor in Benitez's criminal case moved to clarify the court's May 2011 order denying

Benitez's postconviction motion for release of his discovery under CrR 4.7. The prosecutor stated that Benitez was attempting to obtain the same materials from other sources and asked the court to clarify the breadth of its May 2011 order.

The next day, the court entered amended findings and conclusions and a protective order "relating to any discovery materials, law enforcement reports and investigative materials in the possession of defense counsel, the prosecuting attorney or law enforcement." In its amended findings, the court found that release of the discovery materials "would endanger the safety of undercover officers and agents, and would be extremely detrimental, if not life threatening, to undercover officers." Benitez appealed this order.

On October 25, Chief Don McDermott informed Benitez by letter that additional time was needed to respond to his records request, stating "We currently anticipate being to respond by by November 8, 20112." McDermott did not explain why additional time to respond was needed.

On November 8, Molitor denied Benitez's records request, stating that the records were exempt "pursuant to Court Orders signed by Judge Needy on March 23, 2011, May 25, 2011 and October 26, 2012 (enclosed) finding that release of this information would both hinder law evnforcement and would jeopardize the personal safety of law enforcement and witness,

Superior Court Criminal Rule 4.7, and RCW 42.56.240 (1) and (2).

On August 15, 2013, Benitez filed this action against Skagit County for violations of the PRA. The complaint alleged the County acted in bad faith by intentionally violating the PRA and failing to produce the records requested, by distinguishing among persons requesting records, by substituting the records requested with nonresponsive records, and by determining what information was and was not appropriate to know.

On December 10, the County informed Benitez by letter that "although the superior court orders and findings of fact support use of the Public Records Act exemptions for specific intelligence and danger to witnesses, the records you requested can be released with redactions." The County attached the redacted records to its letter.

On April 28, 2014, the Court of Appeals vacated the criminal court's October 2012 order amending its previous order to include records possessed by the prosecutor and law enforcement. The Court of Appeals vacated the order on the ground that the October 2012 order was entered without giving Benitez notice and an opportunity to be heard.

On July 25, Benitez moved for partial summary judgment in his PRA action, arguing that there was no issue as to whether the County violated the PRA.

On July 29, Division Two of the Court of Appeals, decided Department of Transportation v. Mendoza De Sugiyama, 182 Wn.App 588, 330 P.3d 209 (2014). Describing the issue before it as "one of first impression," the majority concluded that a protective discovery order not founded on work product or a privilege did not qualify as an exemption under RCW 42.56.290 of the PRA. Mendoza De Sugiyama, 182 Wn.App. at 598. The dissent, on the other hand, concluded that the PRA could not "be used by a litigant to frustrate a discovery order binding that litigant." Mendoza De Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. at 607 (Bjorgen, J., dissenting).

On August 18, the County responded to Benitez's motion for partial summary judgment. It conceded that "the denied records, properly redacted, should have been provided to Benitez under the [PRA]" when he requested them. The County argued, however, that it had not acted in bad faith in withholding the records and that Benitez was therefore not entitled to penalties under RCW 42.56.565(1). The court entered partial summary judgment for Benitez, stating, "Skagit County violated the [PRA] by denying Benitez' June 17, 2012, request for public records." The court reserved the issue of whether the County acted in bad faith.

In March 2015, the County moved for summary judgment on the issue of bad faith. It claimed it reasonably relied on the court orders in Benitez's criminal action when it

denied his request for records under the PRA. In support, it provided a declaration from Deputy Prosecuting Attorney (DPA) Melinda Miller, the prosecutor in charge of the County's PRA matters. DPA Miller's declaration set forth her analysis of the scope of the court's discovery order and the exemptions.

Benitez opposed summary judgment, arguing that an issue of fact existed as to whether the County acted in Bad faith. He maintained that the County's delays, nonresponsive initial disclosure, withholding of records it initially claimed it could not find, and assertion of inapplicable exemptions demonstrated bad faith. He further alleged that "the County's concern for the safety of the public, officers, and informants was not its true motive for denying [the] records request." In a supporting declaration, Benitez alleged, among other things, that DPA Miller's decisions were unreasonable under then-existing case law and that the County had repeatedly violated the PRA's procedural requirements.

On May 18, the court granted summary judgment, concluding in part that Benitez "fail[ed] to meet his burden of proving that Skagit County acted in bad faith when it denied his June 17, 2012, request for public records." Benitez appealed the court's decision.

On April 18, 2016, the Court of Appeals, Division one, affirmed the superior court's decision. Benitez now seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision.

E. ARGUMENT SUPPORTING REVIEW

THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S PRIOR DECISIONS THAT AGENCIES CANNOT INTERPRET OR REGULATE THE APPLICABILITY OF THE PRA TO PROTECT RECORDS FROM DISCLOSURE; THEREFORE, REVIEW IS WARRANTED UNDER RAP 13.4

"The PRA mandates broad public disclosure." Sargent v. Seattle Police Depar't, 179 Wn.2d 376, 385, 314 P.3d 1093 (2013)(citing RCW 42.56.030); Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 127, 580 P.2d 246 (1978). It declares that "[t]he people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. RCW 42.56.030. The PRA is "liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed to promote this public policy and to assure that the public interest will be fully protected. In the event of conflict between the provisions of this chapter and any other act, the provisions of this chapter shall govern." Id. To that end, state and local agencies are required to disclose their records upon request, unless the records fall within an exemption. Gendler v. Baptiste, 174 Wn.2d 244, 251, 274 P.3d 346 (2012)(citing RCW 42.56.070(1)). The agency refusing to release records bears the burden of showing secrecy is lawful. Sargent, 179 Wn.2d at 385-86 (citing Newman v. King County, 133 Wn.2d 565, 571, 947 P.2d 712 (1997)).

The public policy of the PRA has been described in extremely strong terms:

The stated purpose of the [PRA] is nothing less than the preservation of the most central tenets of representative government, namely, the sovereignty of the people and the accountability to the people of public officials and institutions.

Progressive Animal Welfare Soc'y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 243, 251, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (PAWS II). Thus, this Court has repeatedly rejected the idea that agencies could interpret or regulate the applicability of the PRA to protect records from disclosure. Amren v. City of Kalama, 131 Wn.2d 25, 34 n.6, 929 P.2d 389 (1997); Servais v. Port of Bellingham, 127 Wn.2d 820, 824, 904 P.2d 1124 (1995); Brouillet v. Cowles Pub. Co., 114 Wn.2d 788, 794, 791 P.2d 526 (1990); Hearst, 90 Wn.2d at 129-30.

In Hearst, this Court clearly stated that it was for the courts, and not the agencies, to determine whether records fall within a specific exemption:

The statutory scheme establishes a positive duty to disclose public records unless they fall within the specific exemptions. Whether or not they do so is a function reserved for the judiciary by the act. The court is the proper body to determine the construction and interpretation of statutes. Thus, even when the court's interpretation is contrary to that of the agency charged with carrying out the law, it is ultimately for the court to declare the law and effect of the statute.

Hearst, 90 Wn.2d at 130 (emphasis added; citations and quotation marks omitted). Further, this Court noted, "leaving interpretation of the act to those at whom it was aimed would

be the most direct course to its devitalization." Id. at 131.

The County's response on appeal is that DPA Miller's interpretation of the trial court's order and the exemptions is not so far-fetched as to constitute bad faith. However, that DPA Miller's denial of the records was based on her interpretation of the exemption statutes, is contrary to this Court's prior decisions.

The Court of Appeals response is to agree with the County's argument and DPA Miller's unauthorized interpretation of the exemption statutes, ignoring this Court's precedent. Essentially, the Court of Appeals condones what this Court has repeatedly stated cannot be allowed -- that is, placing the power in the hands of an agency, to control, to any extent, whether disclosure is required. Moreover, the Court of Appeals is adopting a rule that allows agencies to interpret or regulate the applicability of the PRA so long as the agency does it in good faith. This is clearly inconsistent with the public policy of the PRA and defeats the PRA's purpose.

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's prior decisions. Moreover, whether an agency acts in bad faith when it denies public records based on its own interpretation or regulation of the applicability of the PRA, involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be addressed by this Court. Therefore, review is

is warranted under RAP 13.4.

F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons above this Court should accept review Benitez's case.