No. 93120-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE (	OF WASHINGTON
CARLOS BENITEZ, JR,	SEP 28 2015
Petitioner,	"" "Shin
v.	Supremo

SKAGIT COUNTY,

Respondent.

## SKAGIT COUNTY'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD A. WEYRICH Skagit County Prosecuting Attorney

> A. O. DENNY, WSBA #14021 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Office Identification #91059

Skagit County Prosecuting Attorney 605 South Third Street Mount Vernon, WA 98273 (360) 416-1600



\*

#

#### **INTRODUCTION**

.

Benitez erroneously argues that Skagit County acted in bad faith simply because it admitted that it erred when it denied his request for public records. This argument ignores undisputed evidence presented to the trial court that the county did not act in bad faith and RCW 42.56.565, which clearly and unambiguously provides that an inmate is not entitled to penalties "unless the court finds that the agency acted in bad faith in denying the person the opportunity to inspect or copy a public record."

Benitez does not dispute that the record establishes that Skagit County's error was made following a good faith effort to determine whether an exemption applied to the records Benitez requested. There is no evidence that any Skagit County officer acted in bad faith or with an intent to violate the PRA. Thus, because Benitez was an inmate at the time he made his request, he is not entitled to an award of a penalty for the violation the county conceded on a later review and the court should deny his petition for review.

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Benitez fails to show that review is warranted under RAP 13.5(b), but if Benitez's Petition for Review were granted, the issue would be: In the absence of evidence that the county acted in bad faith when it denied Benitez' request for records, did the trial court properly deny an award of per diem penalties after the county conceded error based on a change in post-denial case law?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Benitez does not challenge the statement of the case prepared by the court of appeals, which after discussing Benitez' burden to prove "bad faith" provides in part:

. . .

In his declarations below, Benitez contested few facts and focused instead on the legitimacy of Miller's legal grounds for withholding the records. He argued that Miller's legal analysis was flawed because the "other statute" exemption applies only when another statute or court rule *expressly* exempts specific records. But our courts have held that "[a]n exemption may be found in an 'other statute' even if it is not stated explicitly." White v. Skagit County, 188 Wn. App. 886, 890-91, 355 P.3d 1178 (2015) (citing authority existing at the time of DPA Miller's decision), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1009 (Mar. 4, 2016); see also White v. Clark County, 188 Wn. App. 622, 636-37, 354 P.3d 38 (2015) (statutes "inconsistent with [disclosure under] the PRA" came within "other statute" exemption), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1009 (Mar. 4, 2016); John Doe v. Wash. State Patrol, No. 90413-8, 2016 Wash. LEXIS 474 (Wash. April 7, 2016) (dissenting opinion citing cases).

Furthermore, when Miller made her decision to withhold the records, no court had yet addressed

whether a *protective order* issued under a court rule could fall within the "other statute" and/or "litigation" exemptions in the PRA, or could otherwise preclude disclosure under the PRA. Former RCW 42.17.260(1); RCW 42.56.070(1); RCW 42.56.290. That question first arose in Mendoza De Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. 588, 330 P.3d 209. In a split decision, the majority concluded that a protective order does not exempt records from disclosure under the PRA unless the records are expressly not discoverable under pretrial discovery rules. The majority acknowledged, however, "that reasonable minds might differ and reasonable minds might hold that the government's interest in conducting its trials and handling discovery is a vital government interest that outweighs the interests of public disclosure under the PRA." Mendoza De Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. at 604 (emphasis added). The dissent framed the issue as "whether the PRA may be used by a litigant to frustrate a discovery order binding that litigant." Mendoza De Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. at 607 (Bjorgen, J., dissenting). The dissent concluded that records made unavailable by a protective order are exempt from the PRA under the "litigation" exception, RCW 42.56.290. Mendoza De Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. at 609 (Bjorgen, J., dissenting). Mendoza De Sugiyama thus demonstrates that DPA Miller's assessment of the law was not so farfetched as to constitute bad faith.

Given the uncertainties in the relevant law, the serious safety concerns expressed by the court issuing the protective order, and the detailed and largely uncontroverted declarations submitted by the County on summary judgment, the superior court did not err in concluding there were no genuine issues of fact as to whether DPA Miller's decision was made in bad faith. *Benitez v. Skagit County*, Div. I no. 73626-4-I at 18-20 (Unpublished Opinion) (April 18, 2016).

Material to the court's decision, Benitez was an inmate with the Washington State Department of Corrections at the time he submitted his June 17, 2012, request for public records. CP 292. Also material was DPA Miller's considerable Public Records Act (PRA) experience, CP 277-78, and detailed analysis of how she had considered Benitez' request for records and her reasoning for denying it. CP 279-83. Further, following the court's decision in Department of Transportation v. Mendoza De Sugiyama, 182 Wn. App. 588, 330 P.3d 209 (2014), Skagit County reviewed the denial, released the requested records, and conceded before the Whatcom County Superior Court in the cause under review there, Benitez v. Skagit County, Whatcom County Superior Court cause no. 13-2-02116-8, that the county had violated the PRA when it denied Benitez' request. CP 213. This left only one issue for the trial court to consider: whether the county acted in bad faith when it denied Benitez' June 17, 2012, request for public records. CP 221.

Benitez seeks review of the court of appeals decision finding that he failed to meet his burden of proving that Skagit County acted in bad faith.

6

#### ANALYSIS

A petition for review will be accepted only:

(1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

# A. There is no conflict between the two divisions of the court of appeals and neither decision conflicts with Supreme Court precedent.

The PRA explicitly provides that the lack of bad faith will preclude

the imposition of civil penalties on a wrongful denial of disclosure when

the requestor was an inmate at the time he made his request. See RCW

42.56.565(1).

The court of appeals explained the applicable law:

"Bad faith" is defined as "'a wanton or willful act or omission by the agency."" *Adams v. Dep't of Corr.*, 189 Wn. App. 925, 938-39, 361 P.3d 749 (2015) (quoting *Faulkner v. Dep't of Corr.*, 183 Wn. App. 93, 103, 332 P.3d 1136 (2014), review denied, 182 Wn.2d 1004 (2015)). Bad faith is more than mere negligence or a mistake, but it need not be intentional. *Faulkner*, 183 Wn. App. at 102. Thus, an agency is not guilty of bad faith "for making a mistake in a record search or for following a legal position that was subsequently reversed."

Francis v. Dep't of Corr., 178 Wn. App. 42, 63, 313 P.3d 457 (2013), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1016 (2014). Nor is it bad faith to withhold the names of police officers if the motivation for withholding is "to protect the safety ... of [the] officers" and the basis for withholding is "'not so farfetched as to constitute bad faith." Francis, 178 Wn. App. at 54 (quoting King County v. Sheehan, 114 Wn. App. 325, 356-57, 57 P.3d 307 (2002)); Faulkner, 183 Wn. App. at 105. An agency acts in bad faith when it acts "unreasonably with utter indifference to the purpose of the PRA." Faulkner, 183 Wn. App. at 105. Thus, failure to conduct a reasonable search for records, a "cursory search and delayed disclosure well short of even a generous reading of what is reasonable under the PRA," or withholding based on an indefensible view of the law may support a finding of bad faith. Francis, 178 Wn. App. at 63-64; Faulkner, 183 Wn. App. at 105; Adams, 189 Wn. App. at 945-52.

Benitez v. Skagit County, Div. I no. 73626-4-I at 15-16 (Unpublished

Opinion) (April 18, 2016).

Benitez offers no citation to authority or reasoned analysis to show that the court of appeals decision conflicts with any decision of any other division of the court of appeals or of this court. Nor does he attempt to distinguish any of the cases cited by the court of appeals in support of its decision. Benitez' implicit argument that the county must have acted in bad faith because it erroneously denied records ignores two key points. First, except for requests made by inmates, the imposition of penalties is independent of whether an agency acted in bad faith. Second, Benitez was an inmate at the time that he made his request, which fact requires him to demonstrate bad faith on the agency's part before any penalty may be imposed on the county.

.

B. Benitez' issues do not present a significant question of constitutional law.

Benitez fails to show how any constitutional right is implicated by this case.

## C. Benitez' petition does not raise substantial public interest. In Department of Transportation v. Mendoza De Sugiyama, 182

Wn. App. 588, 330 P.3d 209 (2014), the court clarified that, except in limited circumstances, protective orders issued under the court rules do not qualify as exemptions under the PRA. The *Sugiyama* decision effectively bars a repeat of the decision presented to Skagit County, which at the time was a question of first impression. Thus, this case does not raise a question of substantial public interest.

## CONCLUSION

Benitez fails to meet the standard for acceptance of his petition for

review. It should be denied.